2016

## **The State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Christopher Kim Leech, Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Leech was charged with aggravated murder, two counts of aggravated kidnapping, two counts of aggravated robbery, and obstructing justice. The charges stemmed from the alleged kidnapping and robbery of Andy Beck and Cleat Knight; the shooting death of Knight; and subsequent destruction of evidence. The alleged offenses occurred in three locations: The Mann Way home, **Uncle Chris' apartment, and Snowbasin Resort (Snowbasin)**. There was almost no physical evidence of the offenses. The physical evidence recovered included a handgun; and two shell casings and two bullets that did not match the gun. Therefore, witness credibility was critical.

At the preliminary hearing, co-defendant Theron Myore's **testimony** was a critical for the State to establish the offenses against Leech. Leech cross-

examined Myore at the hearing, but structural and other limitations did not give **Leech a similar motive or opportunity to challenge Myore's credibility. All the testimonies of the State's** witnesses materially conflicted. The ability of Leech to undermine **Myore's credibility through cross-**examination regarding his numerous inconsistent statements was imperative to **Leech's** overall defense.

The day before trial, the State informed Leech that Myore had threatened to refuse to testify. However, it was not until the first day of trial that Leech was given notice of Myore's actual refusal. And, it was not until the second day of trial, after the jury had been selected, that the trial court ruled on **Myore's** availability and subsequent admissibility of his preliminary hearing testimony. **The court ruled Myore's** testimony was admissible under rule 804, Utah Rules of Evidence. Leech's request for a continuance was denied. **Myore's testimony was** admitted through a district attorney who sat on the witness stand, and in **response to the questions asked by counsel from the transcript, read Myore's** answers.

Leech raises two arguments on appeal. First, the trial court erred by finding Myore unavailable under rule 804, **and admitting Myore's preliminary** hearing testimony at trial. The State did not meet its high burden of proving that Leech had a **similar motive and opportunity to challenge Myore's credibility** through cross-examination at the preliminary hearing. This error warrants **reversal because absent the admission of Myore's testimony a reasonable**

likelihood existed that the result of the trial would have been more favorable to Leech.

Second, the **cumulative effect of the trial court's errors in admitting Myore's preliminary hearing testimony establishes prejudice.**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

***Issue I:*** Whether the trial court erred by admitting the preliminary hearing testimony of a critical State witness.

***Standard /Preservation:*** “When reviewing rulings on hearsay, [this Court will] review ‘[l]egal questions regarding admissibility ... for correctness, ... questions of fact ... for clear error,’ and the final ‘ruling on admissibility for abuse of discretion.’” *State v. Garrido*, 2013 UT App 245, ¶10 (citation omitted). “An ‘error warrants reversal only if ... a reasonable likelihood exists that absent the error, the result would have been more favorable to the defendant.’” *State v. Goins*, 2017 UT 61, ¶48 (citation omitted).

***Issue II:*** Whether the cumulative effect of multiple errors was prejudicial.

***Standard of Review/Preservation:*** Issues raised under the cumulative error doctrine need not be preserved. This Court will “apply the ‘standard of review applicable to each underlying claim or error.’” *State v. Davis*, 2013 UT App 228, ¶16.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Leech was charged by with the following: Aggravated murder, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code §76-5-202; two counts of Aggravated

Kidnapping, first degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code §76-5-302; two counts of Aggravated Robbery, first degree felonies, in violation of Utah Code §76-6-302; and Obstructing Justice, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code §76-8-306(1). R.1-4, 121-22, 403-07. At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, Leech was bound over. R.116-22, 1251-1621.

A six-day jury trial was held in September 2016. R.544-50, 562-64, 727-28, 739-41. Leech was found guilty on all counts. R.739-48; Addendum A. He was sentenced as follows: Aggravated Murder, life in prison without parole (LWOP); Aggravated Kidnapping, two indeterminate term of 15 years-to-life; Aggravated Robbery, two indeterminate terms of 5 years-to-life; Obstructing Justice, an indeterminate term of 5 years-to-life. R.805-08. The court ordered the Aggravated Murder conviction to run consecutively to one Aggravated Kidnapping conviction, all other counts were run concurrently. *Id.* Leech timely appealed. R.809-14.

The supreme court stayed **Leech's appeal** pending decisions in *State v. Pham*, 20160502-SC, and *State v. Goins*, 20160485-SC. *See* Addendum C (Order dated February 15, 2017). **Leech's appeal** was poured over to this Court. *See* Addendum D (Letter dated March 15, 2018).

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### **The Offense.**

**Cleat Knight's body** was discovered in a remote area of Snowbasin on January 6, 2014. R.2231, 2282-283, 2413, 2422-428; StEx.73. **Knight's body**

under 2-3 feet of snow at the bottom of a small embankment. R.2285-288; StEx.21. He died from two gunshot wounds—one to his torso and one to his head. R.2249-250, 2257-264. The bullets entered and exited **Knight's body**. R.2249-253, 2294. **Knight's hoodie** had holes consistent with the entry and exit torso wounds. R.2238-240, 2293-296; StExs.40-41. Entry and exit wounds were found on the upper thigh and shin of his left leg and corresponded with the wounds on his torso—if his legs had been extended out in front of him. R.2243-2245, 2254-257, 2269-270; StExs.40-41. Knight had on socks but no shoes. R.2233-36, 2247-248, 2264, 2292-293. Speaker wire was wrapped loosely around his clothed wrists but they were not bound together. **Id.** No personal effects were found on Knight. R.2293-294.

### **The State's case.**

The State alleged that on November 22-23, 2013, Christopher Leech and co-defendants Tina Soules, Theron Myore, and Viliamu Seumanu (Juice) were involved with the kidnapping and robbery of Andy Beck and Knight. R.1-4, 403-07. After being bound, robbed and blindfolded, Andy and Knight were driven to Snowbasin and Leech shot Knight in the back and forced Andy to shoot him. R.583-626, 1852-1902. The alleged offenses took place over three locations: the **Mann Way home, Uncle Chris' apartment, and Snowbasin.**

Leech destroyed clothing and weapons. R.629-33, 1907-08, 2365-72, 2511-17. The only physical evidence of the offense recovered was a handgun—found in Vernal; and shell casings and bullets that did not match the gun. **Id.** The majority

of evidence **establishing Leech's guilt** came from the testimony of Andy, Tawnie Gallegos—**Andy's friend**; Dawnie Soules—**Tina's sister and Juice's wife**; and the preliminary hearing testimony of Myore—**Tina's boyfriend**. R.565-724, 1802-2004, 2030-2169.

## **Background.**

**Andy reported Knight's death after** his arrest by Agent Smiley for violating his FBI agreement. R.1922, 1942-43. Andy had agreed to work with Smiley in exchange for federal drug dealing charges being dropped against him. R.1922, 1942-43.

High-ranking member of Soldiers of the Aryan Culture (SAC). Andy served almost 10 years in prison for violating the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (RICO) act—committing a violent crime in furtherance of an organization. R.1977-78. While in prison, Andy was a SAC **“General”**—commanding 150 fellow inmates. R.1978, 1997. As a general, he was responsible for the physical punishment of those **who “stepped out of line.” R.1978-79**. Andy was convicted of felony assault by a prisoner for cutting another gang member with a knife during an ongoing gang war. R.1977-78, 2000. He was released from prison in 2009. R.1830-33, 1978. Andy has also been convicted of several felonies and crimes of dishonesty. He was on probation in November 2013, after being convicted of felony theft by receiving and theft in October and November 2012. R.1830-31, 1932-33.

Cartel drug dealing. Andy was dealing drugs for a cartel when he was arrested in June 2013, and charged with numerous offenses for possession of controlled substances and forgery. R.1931-34, 1942, 1979-80. He was desperate to get out of jail because he feared going back to prison. R.1935. Agent Smiley came to the jail to inform Andy that federal drug dealing charges would be filed unless he agreed to connect Smiley with the drug cartel. R.1922, 1942-43. To avoid prison, Andy agreed to work with Smiley in exchange for charges not being filed. *Id.* After his release, Andy reneged on his agreement and disappeared. R.1943. He continued to deal drugs while he moved from motel to motel to avoid being found. *Id.*

Andy's rearrested. Police arrested Andy in a motel, sometime between November 27 and 30, 2013, for possession of a weapon—brass knuckles. R.1920-21, 1935-44. Andy was now desperate to get out of jail before Smiley could locate him. R.1943. He tried writing the court to order his released. R.1937. He also called Tina Soules and his girlfriend, Jen, to bail him out. R.1921-22, 1937. Jen **paid Andy's bail** and he was released at the end of November. R.1921-22, 1937-1942. **On the way to Jen's home,** Andy told her about **Knight's** death, and discussed contacting the FBI. R.1922, 1944. Jen called Agent Smiley. *Id.* When Andy woke the next day, Smiley was waiting for him. *Id.*

Andy report's Knight's death. Andy admitted lying about “everything” during his interviews with law enforcement. R.1923-27, 1950-51. He claimed he **lied because he has “been a criminal for most of [his] life, so it's hard to tell the**



**police the truth.” R.1959-60.** Andy could not remember when he stopped lying in these interviews, but claimed he told the truth when he testified in court. R.1927, 1938-39, 1947-51, 1992.

FBI Agents interviewed Andy 3 or 4 times **about Knight’s death**, between late November and December 6, 2013. R.1922-23, 1942-45. Andy’s **version** of events kept changing, so after he failed twice to lead the agents **to Knight’s body**, Andy was booked back into jail. R.1926-27, 1944-48. Smiley said he was done with Andy, and turned the case over to Detective McCarthy with West Valley Police. *Id.*

In his December 12 interview with McCarthy, Andy said he would not talk **about Knight’s death until McCarthy released him from jail. R.1947-508, 2417.** On December 31, McCarthy drove **Andy to Snowbasin to look for Knight’s body**, but Andy failed to locate it. R.1928, 1950, 2417. On the way back to jail, Andy began to cry because he thought McCarthy did not believe him. R.2421.

**Myore led detectives to Knight’s body**, about 200-feet from where Andy told detectives to look. R.2422-23. Andy was charged with obstructing justice for lying to law enforcement. R.1950-51, 1973. If Andy testified truthfully, the State agreed to recommend a sentence of probation—no prison. R.1998.

### **Trial Testimony-Law Enforcement Interviews.**

Friendship with Knight, Tina, and others. Andy testified as follows: He had known Knight almost 20 years and considered him his best friend, R1829; the two began hanging out a few months prior to November 2013, after Knight was

released from a halfway house, R.1829-30; Knight and Andy sold drugs and got high on methamphetamines (meth), R.1829-30.

Andy had dated Tina Soules in high school, and knew her older sister Dawnie, but had not seen them in 13-years, R.1821-26, 2107-08; A week prior to November 22-23, 2013, Andy got back in touch with Tina, and met Myore—her boyfriend, R.1821-26, 1965; Andy met Juice—**Dawnie's husband**—two weeks earlier when Dawnie sold him bath salts—a synthetic speed, similar to meth, R.1823-26; Andy had been using bath salts for a few months, and had previously used meth, R.1824-25; Andy met Tawnie Gallegos when he and Knight moved into a home in Magna—two weeks before Thanksgiving 2013. R.1835-37, 2035-36, 2061-62.

Andy purchased meth for Tina. Andy testified as follows: He began helping Tina sell drugs, R.1966, 1972; On November 22, 2013, Tina called and asked him to buy meth from his supplier, R.1833-34; Tina gave Andy \$2,200, for the meth, and loaned him a rented white Dodge to pick up the meth, **Id.**; **Andy's supplier** only had half of the amount of meth Tina wanted, but would receive more the next day, R.1835-37; Andy hid the meth he purchased in the rental car, R.1838-39.

Tina gave Andy permission to use some of her money to stay at a motel, with his friend Courtney, until he purchased the remaining meth. R.1835-39, 1929-30. The next day, Andy gave Courtney the rental car to pick up belongings he and Knight left at the Magna home, R.1837, 1929-30. After unsuccessfully

trying to reach his supplier, Andy drove to Taylorsville to pick up Knight, R.1837-38; They **went to a friend's home to get high on bath salts**, R.1839-40; Tina called and told Andy to hurry with the meth because her customer was waiting, but Andy still could not reach his supplier, R.1840-41.

Knight, the rental, and the meth went missing. Andy testified as follows: Knight told Andy he could buy the meth Tina wanted in Kearns, but it would cost more, R.1841-42; Andy gave Knight **the rest of Tina's money** and the rental car, and Knight left, R.1841-42; Andy claimed he did not tell Knight about the meth hidden in the rental's **trunk**, R.1842; Andy continued to communicate with Tina to let her know he was waiting on the suppliers and he would be over soon, R.1843; Andy waited several hours for Knight to return, R.1843; Andy had been communicating with Knight, but Knight stopped answering **Andy's calls**, R.1843; Tina kept calling Andy, but after Knight stopped **answering Andy's calls**, Andy **stopped answering Tina's**, R.1843-44; A few hours later, Andy told Tina to pick him up, R.1844-45; Knight was still **not answering Andy's calls**, R.1844.

Knight, the rental, and the meth went missing—Andy's interviews. In interviews with the FBI, Andy claimed the following: Knight came into possession **of Tina's rental car after** Knight took it, without permission, from the where **Andy's motel**, R.1960, 1993-94; Andy **had left the rental's** keys on his motel dresser, *id*; Andy called Knight, gave him **the motel's name**, and left the room keys downstairs for Knight before falling asleep, *id*; The next morning the rental was gone and Andy believed Knight took it, *id*.

Andy refused the **FBI's request to wear a wire when he was with Tina**, R.1945-46; When agents continued **to question Andy's changing version of** events, he **insisted "that is exactly** how everything happened... **I'm not trying to** hide stuff" and **"I told you, I have been real with you. I haven't lied to you about anything...I'm being straight with you. There is nothing more.** I have told you everything," R.1926-27, 1953-54.

Mann Way Home—first scene. Tina lived in a home in West Valley, on Mann Way (Mann Way home); along with her mother, her sister Teresa—**Leech's** girlfriend; and Leech. R.1846-47, 2107-12.

Andy testified as follows: Tina and her customer—a Caucasian man from Vernal—picked Andy up before sundown, R.1845-46; On the way to the Mann Way home, Andy explained that Knight had taken the rental car and gone to purchase **Tina's meth, *id.***

At the Mann Way home, Andy and Tina left to drive around with Myore and look for the Knight, and the rental car, R.1848; Failing to locate Knight or the car, they returned to the home 20-minutes later, R.1848-49; Andy entered through the **home's** front door and went with Tina straight to the garage to smoke a cigarette and to continue texting Knight, R.1849-51; **Tina's customer came into** the garage a few times, and they smoked meth together, R.1851, 1961; Otherwise, Tina and Andy were alone in the garage, while Andy attempted to contact Knight, R.1850-52;

After they heard a truck pulled, Tina **told Andy “that we need to figure this** out because [Leech] was [t]here and he was going to freak out,” then Tina went inside, **id**; Andy had not met Leech before that night, R.1852-53; Leech came into the garage, pointed a gun at Andy, and asked what was going on, R.1852-54; **Leech’s gun was “a black glock-style, plastic, synthetic pistol,” R.1853**; Andy responded that Knight had taken the rental to buy **Tina’s** meth, and Andy was taking care of the situation, R.1853; Leech responded that if Andy **“didn’t get it taken care of it was [Andy’s] ass,” R.1853**; Andy was not tied up or blindfolded while he was in the garage, R.1866.

Leech **stayed in the garage until an “Asian guy” arrived**, R.1855-61; Leech told the Asian guy watch Andy and not let him go anywhere, R.1855-60, 1961-62; The Asian guy sat in a chair by the **garage’s** back door, **id**; The Asian guy held a gun in his lap while he smoked meth; **id**; Andy did not feel free to leave, R.1856, 1867.

Andy continued **for “at least an hour”** to reach Knight “before [Leech] took [his] phone,” R.1861-63; He had texted **Knight that “this isn’t a joke... you need to get ahold of me...you’re going to get me shot,” R.1862-63**; Andy fell asleep in the garage, after a few hours, because he was coming down from bath salts and adrenaline, R.1860-61; Leech nudged him awake, and Andy heard Dawnie and Juice from the kitchen reading his text messages, R.1861-62; Dawnie yelled for **Leech to “ask him what was in the suitcase,” which** referenced the text Andy sent Knight about picking up their belongs from the Magna home, but not the

suitcase, R.1863-64; Leech asked if the meth was in the suitcase, R.1864; Andy **told Leech** “just what [he] told Juice, [that it was] just the suitcase that was left out at the house in Magna,” R.1864.

Andy attempted to go inside, through the kitchen, to use the bathroom, R.1854-55, 1864-65; But when he opened the kitchen door, Leech told him to get back in the garage, *id*; Leech was not holding a gun, R.1855; Andy saw his friend Tawnie inside the kitchen with Leech, Dawnie, Juice, and Tina, R.1864-67; An hour later, Leech told Andy it was time to leave, *id*; Andy walked out of the **home’s** front door unassisted, he was not bound or blindfolded at this time, R.1865-67; The Asian guy stayed behind and Andy never saw him again, R.1988-89.

Andy got into the backseat of **Myore’s truck**, with Leech, R.1867-68; Myore drove, and Juice sat in front, R.1867-68; Leech told Myore, “**You know where we’re going. Let’s go,**” but no other conversation took place, R.1868-69; Andy could see where they were going, but eventually Leech told him to put his hood up and keep his head down, R.1868; Leech was the only one Andy heard directing the events, R.1880-81.

Mann Way Home—**Andy’s interviews.** **Andy’s** version of events to law enforcement differed completely.

***Andy claimed the following:*** Leech led Andy directly to the garage, Andy never entered the home through the front door, R.1948-59, 1989-90; Leech was the only one with him in the garage, R.1948-50, 1955-64; Only Leech had a gun,

*id*; Leech bound and blindfolded him while he was in the garage, *id*; He was held in the garage for two days. R.1959; He never saw Tawnie in the kitchen or at the Mann Way home at all, R.1985 (FBI interview); Told **McCarthy, he was “not telling [him] anything that was not true and [he would] need [him].”** R.1955.

*Andy did not report the following*: Being held in a garage belonging to Tina, R.1958; Myore or his involvement, R.1984 (FBI); Any attempt to enter the home and use the bathroom, R.1958; Being guarded by an Asian man with a gun, R.1948-50, 1955-59, until asked in a subsequent interview about another Asian guy with a gun. Then **Andy responded, “I didn’t see him with a gun ... just [Leech] ... [and] I’d just be making something up”** if he said that he could remember, R.1962-64; that anyone wore a bandana over their face, or being taken to another apartment, R.1950.

*Leaving the Mann Way home*, Andy claimed Leech lead him directly from the garage to the truck, and Knight was already sitting inside the truck before Andy got inside. R.1950.

Mann Way Home—Tawnie’s trial testimony/interviews. **Tawnie’s version** of events at the Mann Way home differed completely from **Andy’s** and the other witnesses’ **testimony**. R.2034-2101.

*Tawnie claimed the following*: Tawnie lived at the Magna home for a month before Andy and Knight moved in, R.2034-35, 2061-62, 2091; They all became friends, *id*; Right before Thanksgiving, Knight and Andy quit talking to her, **and began acting “weird ... kept to the[m]selves,”** then moved out, *id*; Andy

and Knight had not left any of their belongings when they moved out, R.2036; **Andy “always talked about robbing somebody,” R.2091-93**; The next night, her friend Chris Clyde, came over with Tina around 9 or 10 p.m., R.2036-38, 2063; Tina asked her to help find Knight, R.2037-48, 2057; Clyde drove them to the Mann Way home in his gray car, R.2037-39, 2057-61; Tina insisted Tawnie come inside—grabbed her hand, told her not to worry, she would not hurt her. R.2039, 2057.

***As she entered the Mann Way home:*** A tall, white man was sitting on the couch with a bandana around his face, R.2042, 2080; and Myore wore a bandana around his neck, R.2042-46, 2066, 2083; She explained the difference in preliminary hearing testimony –that Myore had a bandana over his face—by claiming Myore wore a bandana over his face at first, but later put it around his neck, R.2080-81.

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