2016

State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee, v. Christopher Kim Leech, Defendant/Appellant : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

The Idaho court explained that though "the standard of proof is obviously different" between preliminary hearing and trial, the factual

elements, relationships between the parties, and the proceeding were “exactly the same.” *Id.* at 408. Further, the defense motive on both occasions was to attack the foundation for the officer’s testimony, his competency, and his compliance (or lack thereof) with police procedure. *Id.* at 409. Even though defense counsel “did not extensively cross-examine the officer” at preliminary hearing, the court held that, on balance, the deceased officer’s testimony was admissible. *Id.*

Thus, relevant factors under the “similar motive” inquiry can include: the type of prior proceeding; trial counsel’s strategy; the issues, stakes, and parties in the prior litigation; and the extent and purposes of cross-examination.

B. The unavailable witness’s preliminary hearing testimony here was reliable because it met the former-testimony exception’s requirements.

Considering those factors here, TJ’s testimony was admissible. Defense counsel candidly told the trial court what his motive was—a full cross-examination of each witness. R938-39 (“Well, just so the . . . record’s clear, I mean, this is, you know, as so often happens in these cases, people tend not to show up and . . . this may be our only opportunity to cross-examine this witness. . . . [W]e have to explore these kinds of things with all witnesses, but

especially in a case like this.”). This was in keeping with the law at the time.⁸ Counsel also acknowledged that he cross-examined TJ without objection.⁹ R1766 (counsel acknowledging that he “did not pose a question that was objected to and . . . sustained” during TJ’s testimony).

And counsel not only had the opportunity to cross-examine, he took full advantage of it. *See State v. Nelson*, 725 P.2d 1353, 1357 (Utah 1986) (explaining, under Confrontation Clause, that even where a defendant “may have elected to forgo cross-examination” that “does not mean that the opportunity was not available.”). Counsel’s cross-examination of TJ lasted more than an hour, and was supplemented by an additional half hour of co-defense counsel’s cross. R119. TJ’s total cross-examination spans some eighty-five transcript pages. R633-49, 649-718, 722-24.

⁸ The preliminary hearing was held in July 2014, R826; the supreme court decided *Goins* in September 2016.

⁹ That’s not to say that the defense had entirely free rein to cross-examine at the hearing—at one point, counsel was not permitted to explore Tawnie’s lifetime drug use as much as he would have liked. *See* R937-38. But he was able to ask about Tawnie’s drug use that would have affected her ability to perceive and recall events. R938. And it is not clear that more remote drug use would be admissible to impeach her at any rate. *Cf. State v. Swain*, 921 A.2d 712, 722-23 (Conn. App. Ct. 2007) (holding that more-than-a-decade-old drug conviction excludable, despite defendant’s desire to show that witness’s “memory and ability to recall may be hampered by a lifetime of drug use”). But again, the court imposed no limitations on cross-examination of TJ, and the sheer volume of questions shows a similar motive under rule 804.

Given counsel's mindset, the law in effect at the time, the lack of limitations, and the sheer volume of questions, defense counsel possessed a similar motive and had a sufficient opportunity to cross-examine TJ at the preliminary hearing. This testimony was admissible at trial once he became unavailable. *See Rodriguez*, 711 P.2d at 414; *Ricks*, 840 P.2d at 408-09; *see also United States v. Poland*, 659 F.2d 884 (9th Cir. 1981) (holding admissible prior testimony from suppression hearing where counsel had a "strong motive" to attack prior identification); *United States v. Allen*, 409 F.2d 611, 613 (10th Cir. 1969) (holding preliminary hearing testimony of unavailable witness admissible where witnesses subject to "extensive cross-examination"); *United States v. Carneglia*, 256 F.R.D. 366, 374-75 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (holding admissible prior preliminary hearing testimony of unavailable witness where prior counsel had "a substantial interest in challenging" that witness's version of events); *Bland v. State*, 4 P.3d 702, 722-23 (Okla. Crim. App. 2000) (holding preliminary hearing testimony of unavailable witness admissible, "[d]espite the difference in the burden of proof requirements").

Leech's arguments to the contrary are unpersuasive. He asserts that *Goins* held that "rule 804 precludes, as a matter of law, the admission of preliminary hearing testimony at trial." Aplt.Br. 37-38. But as explained, *Goins* did not adopt a per se rule; it adopted a case-by-case rule. Leech also

argues that defense counsel self-limited his cross-examination because of the nature of preliminary hearings. *Id.* at 41. But as shown, counsel was motivated to, and did in fact, extensively cross-examine TJ. TJ's preliminary hearing testimony was admissible under rule 804(b)(1).

C. Even if the preliminary hearing testimony were inadmissible, admitting it would have been harmless error.

Even if the trial court erred in admitting TJ's preliminary hearing testimony, any error would have been harmless. *See* Utah R. Crim. P. 30(a) ("Any error . . . which does not affect the substantial rights of a party shall be disregarded."). Evidentiary errors are harmless if in their absence, there is no reasonable likelihood of a different result. *See Ellis*, 2018 UT 2. This analysis is "counterfactual"; an appellate court considers a "hypothetical" universe "in which the trial went off without the error." *Id.* at ¶42. That analysis is not difficult here. Without TJ's testimony, the State presented nearly identical facts on the robberies and kidnappings through Andy, Tawnie, Dawnie, and Uncle Chris. Tawnie corroborated Leech's intent to kill Cleat, and the physical evidence corroborated Andy's account of the murder. The consistent narrative from all three was that Leech was upset on Tina's behalf, schemed to get Andy and Cleat together and teach them a lesson, and directed the robberies, kidnappings, and murder.

And further on the murder, even if Leech had not pulled the trigger, he still would have been liable as an accomplice. The jury was instructed on each count that he acted as a “party to the offense,” and given the definition of accomplice liability. R744-88, 772. So TJ’s account of the shooting itself – while it did corroborate Andy’s testimony – did not add all that much, given the overwhelming evidence of Leech’s intent to kill and directing the crimes. Further, given that the jury found that he acted in concert with two or more persons in covering up the crimes, R748, they must have believed that he acted in concert with TJ and Juice in committing the crimes, given the complete absence of any evidence supporting another narrative.

Finally, to show just how cumulative TJ’s testimony was, the State’s recitation of the facts at the beginning of this brief does not contain a single reference to TJ’s testimony. Under these circumstances, the absence of TJ’s testimony would not reasonably have affected the result at trial. *See, e.g., State v. Thomas*, 777 P.2d 445, 450 (Utah 1989) (holding erroneously admitted testimony harmless where “merely cumulative” of victim’s testimony).

Leech argues otherwise, but not convincingly. First, he says that he was unable to undermine TJ’s credibility. Apl’t.Br. 45. But that is simply untrue – the cross-examination at preliminary hearing included evidence of TJ’s deal with the prosecution, the circumstances of the murder, a re-tread of TJ’s

account of the night's events, his use of drugs, the effects of those drugs on his perceptions, his drug dealing, his disagreement with other testimony, his failure to leave when he could have, his participation in the robberies, kidnappings, and murder, and his failure to report what happened afterward. R1323-1408, 1413-14. And counsel declined at trial to further impeach TJ's account with other statements he had given. *See* R2350, 2483, 2489, 2499-2500, 2563. That he was *unwilling* to present further evidence does not mean that he was *unable* to do so.¹⁰

Leech next says that he suffered prejudice because the jury could not observe TJ's demeanor. Aplt.Br. 44-46. But the lack of demeanor evidence does not show prejudice; rather, it is the reason for classifying former testimony as hearsay and requiring the proponent to meet the reliability requirements of rule 804(b)(2). *See* Mueller & Kirkpatrick, vol. 5 at 78 ("It is

¹⁰ Leech alleges that counsel attempted to "mitigate some of the prejudice" by trying to call TJ in front of the jury, which he asserts counsel was entitled to do. Aplt.Br. 46-47. But he does not separately argue against this ruling, pressing it only as evidence of prejudice from the trial court's former-testimony ruling. *Id.* Alleged inability to mitigate prejudice does not show prejudice.

Even had counsel been able to call TJ in front of the jury, it would have made no difference to his credibility; it merely would have shown that he did not want to testify. And if the reasons behind his refusal were fair game, then the prosecutor could have shown that TJ was merely holding out for a better plea deal. R1626-30.

the very absence of demeanor evidence . . . that most sharply distinguishes former testimony from live testimony. Of course this difference justifies treating former testimony as hearsay, and admitting it only when the conditions of the exception are satisfied.”); *see also Allen*, 409 F.2d at 613 (explaining that demeanor evidence cannot be “controlling factor,” or former testimony would never be admissible in transcript form); *cf. Mattox*, 156 U.S. at 243 (explaining, under Confrontation Clause, that admitting former testimony “deprive[s]” defendants of demeanor evidence, but noting that public policy and necessity dictated “that the rights of the public shall not be wholly sacrificed in order that an incidental benefit may be preserved to the accused”).

Leech asserts that without TJ’s testimony, “the jury was left with the testimony of Andy,” Tawnie, Dawnie, and Uncle Chris, “all of [whom] conflicted on every key point in the evidence.” *Aplt.Br.* 46. To the contrary, aside from some minor details, their narratives combine to tell a consistent story—Tawnie confirmed that Leech was upset with Andy and Cleat; that Leech was the leader, giving orders to TJ and Juice; that Leech said he would shoot Andy and Cleat; and that Leech held Andy hostage in the garage at Tina’s house. R2045-56. Dawnie confirmed that once at Uncle Chris’s house, Leech, Juice, and TJ robbed Andy and Cleat at gunpoint, tied them up, and

took them away in TJ's truck. R2124-39. Uncle Chris corroborated that Leech was in charge, pulled a gun on Cleat and Andy, had TJ tie them up, emptied their pockets, tied their hoodies shut, and walked them out of his apartment. R2187-92, 2199.

And again, while it is true that TJ's testimony corroborated Andy's account of the murder itself, the physical evidence did that also—Cleat's hood and hands had been tied as Andy explained, Cleat had no shoes, he was shot from an intermediate range, and his wounds were consistent with being shot while in a seated position. R2233-36, 2240, 2257; SE38-39, 40-42, 49, 54, 85. And Tawnie corroborated Leech's intent to kill. *See* R2047 (stating that Leech "was going to shoot Andy and Cleat"). It is also true that many of the witnesses were inconsistent with their prior statements and with other witnesses on more minor points, and that they were all drug users and/or dealers. But TJ and his statements were more of the same—sometimes (apparently) inconsistent statements on minor points from a less-than-upstanding witness.

Leech next argues that the prejudice from TJ's testimony was "exacerbated" because it was read into the record by a prosecuting attorney, Tad May. *Aplt.Br.* 47-48; R2393-94. But the jury did not know that Mr. May

was a prosecutor; the court merely introduced him as “someone reading the part of” TJ. R2395. This did not add to the prejudice calculation in the least.

Leech further argues that TJ’s testimony was prejudicial because the prosecutor relied on it in his closing argument to corroborate several things: the robbery and obstruction charges; where the speaker wire came from and how it was used to tie up Andy and Cleat; that Leech was in charge; that Leech and his accomplices stopped for gas; and Leech’s shooting Cleat. Aplt.Br. 48-50. Three of these points—the robbery, the speaker wire/tying, and Leech’s being in charge—were cumulative of Tawnie’s, Dawnie’s, and Uncle Chris’s testimonies, which does not show prejudice. *See* R2045-56, R2124-39. Tawnie also corroborated that Leech intended to shoot both Andy and Cleat, making TJ’s corroboration less impactful. R2047. To the extent that the prosecutor used TJ’s testimony to corroborate the gas stop, this was mere narrative unconnected to the crimes. Finally, using TJ’s testimony to corroborate Andy on the obstruction charge added little to the overall evidentiary picture. The thrust of the obstruction testimony was to prove that Leech was still in charge after the murder, since four witnesses had agreed that he was in charge leading up to the murder. That he would retain his position afterward and direct the cover-up would come as no surprise.

Leech also asserts that he was prejudiced by the admission of TJ's testimony because he was not able to get a continuance to deal with TJ's last-minute refusal to testify. Aplt.Br. 50-53.¹¹ But Leech does not explain exactly what counsel would have done with more time. Counsel himself was not entirely clear. *See* R1772–73 (counsel saying that if he had known TJ was not going to testify, he might have done “a lot of things”). If the extra time was to find and use additional impeachment evidence, counsel was later clear that he had it and intended to use it, and the court was inclined to let him, but he declined to do so. *See* R2350, 2483, 2489, 2499-2500, 2563. It was Leech's choice not to use that evidence, and had nothing to do with the denial of the continuance. To the extent counsel would have sought interlocutory review on the admissibility ruling, Aplt.Br. 53, that would be moot, as he raises the same issue on direct appeal.

Finally, Leech claims prejudice because without TJ's testimony, the remaining evidence was inherently unreliable. Aplt.Br. 46, 53-54. This claim is inadequately briefed, as it neither cites to nor applies the controlling law

¹¹ To the extent this can be read as claiming independent harm from the continuance denial, this claim is inadequately briefed. Though Leech cites to a case with the right test for such claims, *see* Aplt.Br. 53 (citing *State v. Peraza*, 2018 UT App 68, 872 Utah Adv. Rep. 12), he does not analyze the facts of this case under that test. This cannot meet his burden of persuasion on appeal. *See Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶42.

on this subject: *State v. Robbins*, 2009 UT 23, 210 P.3d 288, and *State v. Prater*, 2017 UT 13, 392 P.3d 398. *See generally Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶42 (explaining standards for and consequences of inadequate briefing). And he addresses only Andy—he does not discuss Tawnie, Dawnie, Uncle Chris, or the physical evidence. The inherent-unreliability analysis does not apply where, as here, there is corroborating evidence. *See Prater*, 2017 UT 13, ¶38. Because Andy’s statements were corroborated by three other witnesses and the physical evidence, TJ’s statements did not make much difference—if any—in the result here.

II.

Leech has argued only a single error, so he cannot show cumulative error.

Leech finally argues that this Court should reverse for cumulative error, if nothing else. Aplt.Br. 54. But as shown, he has argued only a single error at trial—the admission of TJ’s testimony. All of his other arguments purportedly show prejudice from that ruling, not independent errors. Because courts cannot cumulate prejudice from a single error, this Court should affirm. *See State v. Martinez-Castellanos*, 2018 UT 46, ¶48, 872 Utah Adv. Rep. 51 (“[A] single . . . error cannot warrant reversal under the cumulative error doctrine.”).

CONCLUSION

Under the unique circumstances of this case, TJ's preliminary hearing testimony was admissible, and even if it were not, it was harmless given the overwhelming evidence of Leech's guilt. And because Leech has alleged only a single error, he cannot show cumulative error. This Court should affirm.